# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### IN RE: ELIZABETH GAINEY v. DONNIE EDINGTON

NO. 2008-CA-00237

# APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF PONTOTOC COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### APPELLANT'S BRIEF

BEN M. LOGAN, Attorney for Elizabeth Gainey, Appellant MIMS & LOGAN, LLC ATTORNEYS AT LAW Post Office Box 826 Tupelo, MS 38802-0826 Telephone: (662) 840-4900 Telecopier: (662) 840-4449

\* Oral Argument is requested.

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

#### I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. The Chancellor abused his discretion in finding that no material change in circumstances existed as the decision was not supported by substantial evidence, manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous and failed to apply the appropriate legal standards of considering the totality of the circumstances and prospective adverse effect.
- II. Particularly damaging to the lower court's analysis of the prospective adverse effect, the Chancellor erred by excluding introduction of evidence of Defendant's "My Space" internet account which was rife with sexually explicit, highly suggestive, and violent content ranging from bondage and human slavery to sado-masochism.
- III. In basing his finding of no material change in circumstances primarily on the lack of proof of adverse impact on the children on one issue, the Chancellor erred in ruling that no report from the guardian ad litem was needed on these issues, even though the guardian ad litem had interviewed the children and the parties' respective families, and was waiting to deliver her report and recommendations after the conclusion of all the testimony.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case

The case below was a modification of the child custody provisions of an April 17, 2001, irreconcilable differences decree filed by the non-custodial parent, Elizabeth Gainey, against her former husband, Donnie Edington. The children involved are two minor daughters, Tara Edington, age 11, and Mia Edington, age 10.

#### B. Course of the Proceedings:

On September 1, 2004, Elizabeth Gainey filed her Petition for Modification of Custody, Temporary Establishment of Reasonable Visitation, and in the Alternative, Permanent Establishment of Liberal Visitation. Donnie Edington answered. A Temporary Agreed Order was entered November 8, 2004. Aggrieved at Donnie Edington's lack of compliance with the Temporary Agreed Order, Elizabeth Gainey filed a second petition for Contmpt and modification on July 8, 2005. Edington again answered. On September 6, 2006, the first Chancellor below, Rodney Shands appointed Honorable Sidra P. Winter as Guardian Ad Litem. A hearing was held on June 20,2007, September 4, 2007 and September 5, 2007 before the Honorable Judge Michael Malski.

#### C. Disposition

At the conclusion of Plaintiff's case-in-chief, Defendant Donnie Edington moved <u>ore</u> tenus to dismiss on the basis of no showing of a material change in circumstances adverse to the best interest of the children. The Court below rendered a bench opinion sustaining and granting the motion, and a memorandum <u>Opinion and Judgment of the Court</u> was signed December 10, 2007, <u>nunc pro tune</u>, September 5, 2007, and filed December 13, 2007. From the bench opinion and <u>Opinion and Judgment of the Court</u>, Petitioner Elizabeth Gainey brings this instant appeal.

#### D. Statement of Facts

As a teenager, Elizabeth Gainey was molested by her father. (Transcript, P. 121-122, L28-2: P 126, L2-29). Her mother did not believe her allegations, and her parents stayed together. (Transcript, P. 127, L1-5). While married, Elizabeth and Donnie suspected that Elizabeth's father might be molesting the girls due to their acting out inappropriately. (Transcript, L6-13). The couple contacted the Department of Human Services, but Elizabeth's father was not prosecuted. (Clerk's File, P. 63; Transcript, P. 126, L 27-29).

Christmas of 2000 saw events that would change the family forever. Elizabeth and her mother went to Boaz, Alabama to shop. Her father accompanied them. Upon returning to Mississippi, Donnie and Elizabeth argued, and he kicked her out of the house, keeping their two daughters and Shannon, Elizabeth's son by a relationship before the marriage. (Transcript, P. 140, L16-28). With no place to turn, Elizabeth went first to her grandparents, then to SAFE House, a shelter for women and families in crisis. (Transcript, P 140-141, L29-7). Hopeless, Elizabeth tried to take her own life, but luckily failed, and currently takes anti-depressant medication. (Transcript, P. 141, L8-11; P. 128, L7-27).

In this situation, Elizabeth made the most fateful decision of her life. Unable to obtain legal aid or afford the cost of a contested divorce, Elizabeth opted to file an irreconcilable differences divorce. (Transcript, P 141-142, L25-2). With little bargaining power and no means to provide for the girls, she gave full custody to Donnie, and the issue of her visitation was not addressed in the April 2001 divorce decree. (Clerk's file, P. 013-021).

Much ado was made by Donnie Edington at trail about Elizabeth's failure to visit with the girls between April 2001 and when she filed for custody in 2004. Elizabeth argued that Donnie kept her from seeing the girls during this time. (Transcript, P. 92-94). She outlined the PAGE 3.

precious few times that he allowed contact, and she basically resorted to mailing notes and leaving gifts on the porch of Donnie's house. (T. 94). However, she did not give up, and when her finances allowed, she hired an attorney to prosecute this action. (T. 94-95). Temporary visitation was set out in November 2004, and Elizabeth has exercised her visitation religiously. Donnie continued his obstinance and penchant for control and non-communication. (T.95-97). Elizabeth was forced to file a contempt action during the pendency of this matter just to get the summer and holiday visitation that was granted in the temporary order. (Clerk's Record 066-068). During the pendency of this ancillary pleading, Donnie would drive right by Elizabeth's house to allow the girls to stay with his then-girlfriend instead of allowing Elizabeth her summer visitation in 2005. (T. 98). He neglected to inform Elizabeth of the girls' baptisms at a church where he acts a a "lay minister," leaving it up to the girls to tell her. (T. 14). Though Donnie argued that Elizabeth "abandoned" the girls for two and a half years, his actions post-petition supply ample support for Elizabeth's contention that he kept the girls from her during this time – simply because he could.

The November 2004 temporary order had three other important provisions. First, no contact was to be had between the girls and their maternal grandfather. None ever occurred, nor was it alleged. Second, Elizabeth was to pay \$150 per month in child support. She paid this faithfully, and it was never suggested that she didn't. (Although the Chancellor made such an erroneous finding from the bench. Finally, the parties and children were to attend a parenting program, "Children in the Middle." (Clerk's Record 004-006). Elizabeth attended, as did her new husband Cary Gainey, his son and Shannon, her son. Donnie nor the girls under his care attended; he blamed his attorney for failing to arrange it or provide details and soon just forgot about it. (T. 8).

Donnie began seeing Christie in 2003. They were ultimately married in 2004, and Christie had a child during the marriage in May of 2004 that Donnie believed to be his. (T. 9). Mia and Tara believed it to be their sibling. (T. 70). While married to Christie, Donnie admitted to one evening of spouse swapping with another married couple at the home. (T. 41). The children were not there, but at their paternal grandmother's house down the road. (T. 42). Donnie denied any other instances of swinging, claiming that any other allegations of such were a setup by Christie using his "The Lord Phantom" Dungeons and Dragons alias and computer username. (T. 42). While married to Christie, he amassed a rather large assortment of sex toys and aids, some of which he still retains for use, plus additions and replacements. (T. 44). Christie and Donnie separated in late 2004 and divorced in early 2005. (T. 46). The child of the marriage turned out not to be his, and he explained to Mia and Tara (ages seven and nine at the time) that their baby sibling was not his baby and not their sibling. "They were fine with it." Donnie agreed that Christie was not the best person to have around the girls. (T 71-72).

Donnie next married Suzanne in the late summer of 2005. Suzanne had a son and daughter by a previous marriage, the son about the age of the girls and the daughter much younger. Despite graduating with a teaching degree from Blue Mountain College, Suzanne did not work outside the home in her field of study. She also had been sent home from school while student teaching at New Albany for being inappropriately dressed. (T. 190). By her own admission, she spent a great deal of time on the internet. (T. 194). Photographs taken by Donnie of Suzanne were introduced as evidence where she had posted them on publicly-accessible web pages or sites. (Exhibit 7, P. 037-038). She described them as "just being playful," but did admit that she would have been upset with the kids if they posed similarly, and also admitted that good church goers at the church where Donnie preached as a lay minister would not approve. (T.

196). Her only employment through the date of hearing was as a sex toy and device "consultant" hosting Passion Parties either at the home or the homes of others. (T. 193-94). For a time she kept her inventory at home, of course, in boxes that the kids couldn't get into. (T. 194).

Sidra Winter, Esq. was appointed guardian ad litem by Chancellor Shands on September 25, 2006, in response to Suzanne's motion suggesting abuse or neglect. (Clerks Record P. 82).

By this time, the home environment and care by Donnie seemed to be having an impact on the girls. Mia was failing in several classes and could not maintain suitable grades. (T. 22-26). Despite Suzanne's background in education, it was necessary to employ an after school tutor. (T. 25-26). At the time of the first day of trial in late June 2007, Donnie had still not received the girls' grades, claiming that he put a 39 cent stamp instead of a 41 cent stamp on the return envelope for the grades. (T. 26). Mia had been seen at the Shriner's Hospital in Louisiana for a gait derangement, which at the time of trial was uncorrected. (T. 35-37). Donnie could not give a name for the condition and had discontinued further treatment, deferring the surgical decision to his daughter if she didn't outgrow it. (T. 35). The only physical therapy she received is a "karate class" that her and Tara take from her aunt's husband, a former military man. (T. 37-39). The girls were made to do pushups in the back yard, and Mia has complained that it hurt her leg. (T. 39). Both girls had numerous cavities and poor oral hygiene, so bad that needed orthodontics could not be pursued because of the condition of their teeth. (T. 29-31, Exhibits 1-2, P. 004-008). Donnie was unable to state how many cavities the girls had, and deferred orthodontic work until his ten and eleven year old daughters "stop sucking their finger and thumb." (Transcript. P. 30). Both girls contracted staph infections after their step-mother, Suzanne, had a bout with it. (T. 26-28). Mia had failed hearing tests at school and months later showed up for visitation at Elizabeth's with a terrible, untreated

ear ache. After Elizabeth took the child to an ear-nose-throat specialist, Donnie had tubes put in the child's ears. (T. 33-35). Donnie allowed the girls to be kept unsupervised over the years at the home of his neighbor and cousin Frank Florez. At the time of the second day of trial in September 2007, Frank Florez had been sentenced to the penitentiary for the crimes of possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute and possession of cocaine with intent to distribute. The girls had stayed at his home during the first day of trial in June 2007, before his sentencing. (T. 82-84).

Donnie and Suzanne maintained MySpace and other public and quasi-public accounts under the psendonyms of The Lord Phantom and Lady Sedetha. Donnie tried to deny an active use of his MySpace account, but admitted that he had posted a blog about illegal immigrants the very morning of the first day of trial in June 2007. (Transcript. Page 51, L 10-19). Other blogs written by him included the statement "poor kids" when referring to Mia and Tara visiting with their mother during the 2006 holidays. (T. 54). Under his "My Pictures" MySpace section, he had taken and posted a picture of Suzanne in a French maid costume. (Exhibit 7). Under his "My Videos," although he initially denied placing it there, he maintained a movie trailer called "The Pet." (T. 52-54). Donnie described the movie as a bondage movie, but couldn't clearly remember that the trailer included a naked woman sold into slavery and kept by her master in a cage like a dog. (Transcript. P. 53-54). He explained that the movie trailer was made more palatable by describing the woman's plight as "all consensual." (Transcript. P. 53-54).

At trial, Edington was offered a stack of photographs representing postcards sent by him or received by him from "My Friends." (Transcript. P. 56). Counsel for Donnie objected to their introduction and counsel or Elizabeth moved on three occasions for Chancellor Malski to view the site or other similar My Space accounts to understand the process and concept. (T. 56).

The Chancellor denied introduction of photographs printed from the MySpace account and refused to view the publicly accessible account unless counsel or Elizabeth could demonstrate that the site contained illegal matters referable to the United States Attorney's office or prove that the children had seen the site. (T. 64-65). Edington did admit that a picture of Charles Manson was on the account as was a video of Ronald McDonald being shot in the face. (T. 62). The guardian ad litem, who had seen the site, stated, "I would leave that to the deference of the Court." (Transcript, Page 61, Lines 19-20).

Both Elizabeth and her husband Cary Gainey testified, expressing their concerns about the children's educational needs, healthcare needs and concern for the environment in which the children were living as set out above. Elizabeth and Cary testified about their willingness, ability and suitability to better raise Mia and Tara. Cary had custody of his son, and had assisted Elizabeth in raising her son Shannon. Cary had helped Mia and Tara with schoolwork during visitations, and corroborated Elizabeth's observations and concerns.

At the close of Elizabeth's proof, counsel for Donnie moved for a directed verdict.

Argument by both counsel was made, and the Chancellor asked the guardian ad litem if she had anything to add, to which she answered, "Your Honor, I will leave it to the Court's discretion as to whether or not there has been a material change in circumstances." (Transcript, P. 212, L13-16). The Chancellor ruled that the "aberrant sexual behavior" was not proven to have an impact on the children and listed his concerns of poor dental hygiene, staph infections and recurrent ear infections as not rising to the level of substantial change. (Transcript, P. 212-221). Accordingly the Chancellor sustained the motion to dismiss. Further, the Chancellor ruled that unless all three prongs of the standard to modify were not proven, "There is no need, in my opinion, for a

report from the guardian ad litem." (Transcript, P. 219, L14-27). The Chancellor did state that had the three pronged test been met, "Quite frankly, if I were having to make that decision, I might well have decided in favor of the noncustodial parent in this particular case." (Transcript, P. 219, L 7-10).

Aggrieved by the ruling Elizabeth lodged her appeal herein.

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor below found that allegations of aberrant sexual behavior on the part of Donnie Edington was not proven to have an adverse impact on the minor children. and consequently Elizabeth Grainey failed to meet the second prong of her burden of proof. Other factors, including poor dental hygiene of both girls and thumb and finger sucking at age ten and eleven, inability to pursue orthodontics; Mia's uncorrected gait derangement; Mia's recurrent ear infections; Mia's poor grades; both girls' contracting staph after their step-mother had the condition; supervision by a neighbor and relative who was sentenced to the penitentiary during the phases of the trial; the environment present where the first step-mother's child born in the household turned out not to be their father's and the high likelihood of exposure to inappropriate material on the internet maintained at all times at issue publicly by their father and step-mother, were either disregarded or not deemed rising to the level of a material change in circumstances by the Chancellor, despite the obvious health, educational and emotional impact on the children. The Chancellor's finding of no material change was not supported by the almost unrefuted, contrary substantial evidence of several major material changes, but certainly adverse material changes in light of the totality of the circumstances and prospective

adverse effect standards. The Chancellor compounded the application of these two legal standards by excluding evidence or refusing to view the Edington's MySpace accounts, placing the onus on Elizabeth Gainey to prove that the matters had to be criminal in nature rather than relevant to a child custody modification. Further, the absence of a written report by the guardian ad litem and the Chancellor's failure to seek an oral report from the guardian ad litem at the conclusion of all the proof, both deprived the children of "being heard" upon issues that the guardian ad litem had knowledge.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Chancellor abused his discretion in finding that no material change in circumstances existed as the decision was not supported by substantial evidence, manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous and failed to apply the appropriate legal standards of considering the totality of the circumstances and prospective adverse effect.

The appropriate standard of review of a chancellor's findings is that such findings will not be disturbed on appeal, "When supported by substantial evidence unless the Chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." Sanderson v. Sanderson 824 So.2d 623, 625-26 (Miss. 2002) (Emphasis added). The Court of Appeals in Connelly v. Lammey, 2008-MS-A0521.009 (Court of Appeals, Miss. 2008), defined the review of whether the chancellor applies proper legal standards in deciding custody cases as a de novo review. Connelly, citing Morgan v. West, 812 So.2d 987, 990 (Miss. 2002). The case at bar presents an issue of whether or not substantial evidence supported the Chancellor's finding of no material change, and whether or not the Chancellor's finding of no proof of adverse impact on the children as to one finding of material change failed to apply the appropriate legal standards of totality of the circumstances and prospective or reasonably

foreseeable adverse harm.

In order to modify custody the non-custodial parent must prove the following:

- (1) a material change in circumstances has occurred since the issuance of the judgment or decree sought to be modified.
- (2) the change adversely affects the welfare of the child, and
- (3) the proposed change in custody would be in the best interest of the child.

  Lambert v. Lambert, 872 So.2d 679, 683-84 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

Elizabeth Gainey adduced the following proof which she argues constituted material change in circumstances of the custodial household:

- (1) denial of any meaningful visitation between the entry of the divorce decree in April 2001 and her ability to hire counsel to pursue her legal remedies in August 2004; and
- (2) at least one incident of "spousal swapping" occurring in Edington's home between mid-2003 and September 2004, involving Donnie and his second wife Christie;
- (3) the pregnancy and birth of a child by Christie which later became known to the children as not belonging to their father;
- (4) the separation and divorce of Donnie and Christie;
- (5) the admission by Donnie that Christie was not a good person to have around the children:
- (6) the maintenance of a supply of sexual aids and toys, including collars, whips and chains (Exhibit 3, p. 009)
- (7) the marriage of Donnie to third wife Suzanne within the same year of the PAGE 11.

#### divorce from Christy;

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