#### **ELIZABETH GAINEY**

APPELLANT

V.

#### **DONNIE EDINTON**

# APPELLEE

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. Elizabeth Gainey Appellant
- 2. Donnie Edington Appellee
- 3. J. Mark Shelton and Jana L. Dawson of Shelton & Dawson, P.A., Attorneys for Appellee
- Ben M. Logan and Kelly Mims of Mims & Logan, LLC, Attorneys for Appellant

THIS the <u>17</u> day of February, 2009.

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

Giannaris v. Giannaris, 960 So.2d 462, 467 (Miss.2007). In Giannaris v. Giannaris, the Court

reminded us of the difficulty the movant faces when trying to change child custody:

[T]he polestar consideration in child-custody cases is the best interest and welfare of the child." Albright, 437 So.2d at 1005. This Court has previously noted that a change in custody is a "jolting, traumatic experience." Ballard v. Ballard, 434 So.2d 1357, 1360 (Miss.1983). As such, "children do not need to be bounced back and forth between their parents like a volleyball[.]" Tucker v. Tucker, 453 So.2d 1294, 1298 (Miss.1984). See also Cooley v. Cooley, 574 So.2d 694, 699 (Miss.1991) (overruled on other grounds) ("The best interest of the child requires that the child have some degree of stability in his or her life.") Therefore, "[a] change in custody should never be made for the purpose of rewarding one parent or punishing the other." Tucker, 453 So.2d at 1297. All courts must be consistent, diligent, and focused upon the requirement that "only parental behavior that poses a clear danger to the child's mental or emotional health can justify a custody change." Morrow v. Morrow, 591 So.2d 829, 833 (Miss.1991). See also Ballard, 434 So.2d at 1360 ("It is only that behavior of a parent which clearly posits or causes danger to the mental or emotional well-being of a child (whether such behavior is immoral or not), which is sufficient basis to seriously consider the drastic legal action of changing custody.").

Giannaris v. Giannaris, 960 So.2d at 467. Indeed it is a "jolting, traumatic experience" for a

child to be removed from his or her home. The minor children, Tara and Mia, ages 11 and 10 at the time of the trial, had been in the custody of Donnie since the parties were divorced on April 17, 2001. Elizabeth argues in her brief: "Much ado was made by Donnie Edington at trail (sic) about Elizabeth's failure to visit with the girls between April 2001 and when she filed for custody in 2004." [Appellant's Brief, p.3] The reality is that Elizabeth made a voluntary decision to give up custody in her divorce without even demanding any visitation rights. The reality is that Elizabeth voluntarily failed to have virtually any contact with the children for more than three (3) years prior to filing her complaint seeking a change in custody. These actions simply cannot be explained away by her argument that "Donnie kept her from seeing the girls." [Appellant's Brief, p.3]

Elizabeth admitted under cross-examination that she had seen her children "about four hours total in three and a half years." [T.Vol.I, p.123 lines 10-21] Even though Elizabeth knew where the children were in school, she never once during that time went to school to see them. [T.Vol.I, p.123 lines 22-25] She never once during that time hired an attorney to seek visitation rights. [T.Vol.I, p.124 lines 2-4] It is interesting that during this same period of time, Elizabeth never paid any financial support to, or for the benefit of, the children. [T.Vol.I, p.133 lines 4-23]

A request for a change of custody cannot be, and should be not, viewed in a vacuum. The "jolting, traumatic experience" by the change in custody addressed in *Giannaris* is obviously more likely to occur, and to be greater in intensity, where one parent has essentially been nonexistent for years as far as the children are concerned. As *Giannaris* makes so abundantly clear, a decree modifying a change in custody should be hastily or easily granted. Much is required, and much should be. In this particular case, the proof presented by Elizabeth was woefully inadequate to justify a change in custody, as will be shown below.

A. <u>Elizabeth in her brief states: "The Chancellor abused his discretion in finding that</u> no material change in circumstances existed as the decision was not supported by the substantial evidence, manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous and failed to apply the appropriate legal standards of considering the totality of the circumstances and prospective adverse affect." [Appellant's Brief, p.10] It is interesting that Elizabeth felt compelled to use the word "prospective" before

"adverse affect" and indeed she was being very accurate. It is readily apparent from the record that no proof was offered to suggest any actual "adverse affect" upon the minor children. Thus, Elizabeth is left with no alternative but to argue that the Chancellor should have considered the "prospective" affect. It is true that the Supreme Court has found that there may be certain instances where the Chancellor's hands need not be tied where it is "reasonably foreseeable" that a child will suffer adverse affects where the custodial home is "clearly detrimental" to the child's well-being *Gilliland v. Gilliland*, 984 So.2d 364, 368 (Miss.Ct.App.2008). In support of this argument, Elizabeth suggests to the Court four cases: *Riley v. Dorner, Johnson v. Gray, Glissen* 

v. Glissen and Savell v. Morrison. These cases are easily distinguishable from the case at hand.

In *Riley v. Doerner*, the proof established that there was illicit drug use within the custodial home. The minor child had "flunked first grade" and had changed schools many times while in the care of her mother. Furthermore, the child's mother had lived with several men without the benefit of marriage, and had only married her husband the day before the trial. *Riley v. Doerner*, 677 So.2d 740, 742 (Miss.1996).

In Johnson v. Gray, the mother [Julie] clearly had substantial lifestyle problems: "Once again, [the father] was able to present an abundant amount of evidence to prove that [the child] was in danger when she was in her mother's company . . . Testimony revealed that Julie was involved in car accidents, arrests, and fits of rage, all attributable to her alcoholic stupors. He brought forth an insurmountable amount of evidence showing Julie's alcoholism, drug addiction, and psychological problems." Johnson v. Gray, 859 So.2d 1006, 1014 (Miss.2003).

In *Glissen v. Glissen*, the custodial parent (the mother) displayed horrible parenting skills, often arising from her choice of boyfriends.

The chancellor was disturbed with the actions of [the mother] in choosing Nixon for a boyfriend, and he was concerned that Nixon would be a poor role model as a potential stepfather. The chancellor found that [the mother] had been cohabitating with a married man. The chancellor found that the continuing effect of this cohabitation led to a potential for a material change in circumstances. In addition to the cohabitation, the chancellor was concerned that [the mother] was living with a convicted felon, which [the mother] testified she discovered the day of the hearing. Nixon also declared bankruptcy, and his home and car were repossessed as a result of this bankruptcy. The chancellor questioned [the mother's] ability to take care of the girls if she is living with a convicted felon who is bankrupt. He also questioned [the mother's] judgment because she was unaware of Nixon's felony conviction until the day of the hearing.

#### Glissen v. Glissen, 910 So.2d 603, 606-07 (Miss.Ct.App.2005).

In Savell v. Morrison, there were constant threats of violence by the new step-father aimed against the minor child. "As the lower court pointed out, this would mark the first time [the child] would live with [the step-father] and her mother as husband and wife. What would follow over the next several months would show a pattern of obscene language and threats of violence directed at [the child] by [the step-father] . . . . He apparently took advantage of this advice when he admitted that he screamed at [the child] on an almost daily basis. Additionally, [the step-father] admitted that he wanted to repeatedly hit, or "pepper," [the child] with paintballs and duct tape her to a chair. Finally, [the step-father] threatened [the child] with a belt as a result of her talking back to her mother, scaring [the child] to the point that she turned white." Savell v. Morrison, 929 So.2d 414, 416-17 (Miss.Ct.App.2006).

As can easily be seen, the home environment in the case at hand does not even approach the type of environment present in those cases cited. If Elizabeth was to obtain custody of these minor children, she must have satisfied the three-prong test. The Chancellor correctly found that she failed to do so. Elizabeth's true basis for seeking a change of custody can be best summed up by using her own words:

Q. And so then you come in in 2004, and despite the fact that you are Johnny Come Lately, three and a half years later, now, suddenly, you are telling the Court, well, I've got my life right and I want custody now. Right? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And that, basically, boils down the case, doesn't it, Mrs. Gainey? You didn't feel like you were in a position of custody at the time of the divorce, now you feel like, with your remarriage and different things, now you're in a good position for custody and you want your girls back. Right?

A. Yes, sir, I do.

[T.Vol.I, p.124 lines 16-28] In this, Elizabeth ignores the very well-settled law in Mississippi that the fact that her circumstances have improved since the entry of the divorce decree in no way, alone, gives her any standing to obtain custody. *Riley v. Riley*, 884 So.2d 792, 793 (Miss.Ct.App.2004) *citing Bowden v. Faynard*, 355 So.2d 662, 664 (Miss.1978). "As the Supreme Court has held, it is not enough to require a change in custody that a parent show that she has recovered or been rehabilitated from whatever problems previously made custody improper. Improvement in the condition of the non-custodial parent does not justify making a change. *Touchstone v. Touchstone*, 682 So.2d 374, 377 (Miss.1996)." *Thompson v. Thompson*, 799 So.2s 919, 926 (Miss.Ct.App.2001).

During the trial, Elizabeth attempted to satisfy her burden of proof by presenting evidence of the sexual habits and lifestyle of Donnie. Indeed, the majority of facts cited in Elizabeth's brief refers to the proof presented on this subject. However, as the Chancellor correctly found, no proof was presented that the children had been adversely affected by any such behavior. In stating that the Court "may not approve of behavior" engaged in by Donnie, "it is not the function of the chancery court to police behavior conducted in the privacy of the bedroom <u>unless that behavior can be shown to adversely impact the children. There has been no</u> <u>proof of such a nexus or connection in this case</u>." [T.Vol.II, p.217 lines 8-16 (*underline mine*)] The Chancellor further stated: "In the instant case, it is true that there may have been somewhat aberrant sexual behavior. However that is no proof at all of an impact upon the children." [T.Vol.II, p.219 line 28- p.220 line 2]

In Elizabeth's brief, beginning on page 11, she attempts to list seventeen (17) items which are cited as "proof which she argues constituted material change in circumstances of the custodial household." [Appellant's Brief, p.11] One must get all of the way to item number ten (10) before it can even be suggested that the item caused an "adverse affect" on the minor children. These items include "diminishing grades", "recurrent and ongoing ear problems", "staph infections", and poor dental care. With respect to these items, the Chancellor correctly found that those "issues are not the type of substantial changes which would meet the test for modification." [T.Vol.II, p.220 lines 11-13] Those changes cited by Elizabeth clearly are insufficient to justify a change in custody.

Even Elizabeth admitted under cross-examination that she had no proof of any adverse affect on the children (although she suggested she had "hearsay").

The change in circumstances must be one which clearly exposes the minor child to physical, emotional or mental harm.

[A] non-custodial parent must first sufficiently prove a material change in circumstances which has an adverse effect on the child that 'clearly posits or causes danger to the mental or emotional well-being of a child[,]' as a condition precedent to reweighing the *Albright* factors. The *Albright* factors may ebb and flow yearly, quarterly, monthly or even less, but in the absence of a substantial adverse effect upon the child, physical custody changes are not only unwarranted, they are unwise. Our body of law could not be clearer.

*Giannaris* v. *Giannaris*, 960 So.2d at 468 (citations omitted). It simply cannot be genuinely argued that those items cited by Elizabeth in her brief are of the type, nature and degree which "clearly posit or cause danger" to the children.

Honorable Sidra Winter was the Court-appointed Guardian Ad Litem serving on behalf of the minor children in this matter. Prior to the beginning of the trial, the GAL announced ready to proceed. [T.Vol.I p.2 lines 25-26] The GAL conducted a thorough investigation in the allegations raised by Elizabeth. At the conclusion of Elizabeth's case-in-chief, counsel for Donnie made a motion or tenus for a dismissal of the complaint based upon a failure to meet the first two prongs of the three-prong test. After argument by both counsel, the Court asked the GAL whether she had anything to add. The GAL stated: "Your Honor, I will leave it to the Court's discretion as to whether or not there has been a material change in circumstances." [T.Vol.II, p.212 lines 13-16] While perhaps it could have been more articularly stated, certainly if the GAL had felt the children were being exposed to circumstances which "clearly posit or cause" danger to the children, this would have been conveyed to the Court.

B. <u>Elizabeth in her brief states: "Particularly damaging to the lower court's analysis</u> of the prospective adverse effect, the Chancellor erred by excluding introduction of evidence of <u>Defendant's "MySpace" public account which was rife with sexually explicit, highly suggestive,</u> and violent content ranging from bondage and human slavery to sado-masochism." [Appellant's Brief, p.16]

Elizabeth argues in her brief that the "Chancellor did not understand how publicly accessible Edington's internet footprint was, and the exclusion of this evidence deprived the Court of being able to fully assess the totality of the custodial home and the reasonably foreseeable adverse impact on the children." [Appellant Brief, p.17] Donnie would assert initially that Elizabeth did not properly preserve her ability to complain of this error on appeal in that no offer of proof was made with respect to preserving for appellate review the precise material Elizabeth complains was improperly excluded. Rule 103 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence provides that error may not be predicated upon any ruling excluding evidence unless an offer of proof was made or it was "apparent from the context within which questions were asked." Rule 103 of M.R.E. Here Donnie was asked about chat room activity, MySpace accounts, E-cards, movie reviews, sex toy sales, etc. It cannot be said that it was "apparent" from the context the precise nature of the information which Elizabeth now complains was improperly excluded. Without an offer of proof which would allow this Court to review precisely what material was excluded, it is extremely difficult, if not impossible, for the Court to determine whether the material should have been admitted.

Even assuming, however, that this issue was properly preserved for appeal, there was clearly no error on the part of the Chancellor and Elizabeth's argument is without merit. It can be easily ascertained by reading the transcript that Elizabeth tried in vain to create a case for modification of custody by making references to Donnie's sexual behavior and practices <u>even</u> though no proof whatsoever was offered that the behavior and practices were ever exposed to the <u>children</u>. Even if the Chancellor had erred in not allowing the introduction of certain evidence involving Donnie's computer activity, this would constitute nothing more than "harmless error" since not one scintilla of proof was ever offered to suggest any exposure of the children to Donnie's computer activity. Without some proof that there was a connection between the computer activity and the minor children, the introduction could not have impacted the ultimate decision of the Chancellor. Accordingly, the Chancellor's decision to exclude the introduction of this material, even if improper, would be "harmless error" in that it would not have changed the outcome of the case.

The reality, however, is that the Chancellor did not err in excluding this evidence. Donnie was questioned extensively about his use of a "MySpace" computer site, and about other computer internet use. On multiple occasions the Chancellor stated from the bench that there had been no proof that either child had been exposed to this computer activity.

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